THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

Trial Court Case No. 2015-CP-26-00279  
Trial Court Case No. 2015-CP-26-00118  
Trial Court Case No. 2015-CP-26-02718  
Trial Court Case No. 2015-CP-2604514  
Appellate Case No. 2019-001053

---

**RECEIVED**

**Apr 27 2020**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

DOES A LIABILITY INSURER HAVE A RIGHT OR OBLIGATION TO INTERVENE IN AN UNDERLYING CONSTRUCTION DEFECT ACTION TO REQUEST AN ALLOCATED VERDICT UNDER *HARLEYSVILLE V. HERITAGE*?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This consolidated appeal involves five actions in which The Honorable Clifton Newman entered an order denying motions by various insurers to intervene for the limited purpose of requesting special interrogatories or special verdict sheets. (R. p.7.) Hartford Fire Insurance Company and Hartford Casualty Insurance Company (collectively, “Hartford”) filed intervention motions in *River Crossing v. Centex*, Case No. 2015-CP-26-00279, and *Tanglewood v. Centex*, Case No. 2015-CP-26-02718, on December 8, 2017. (R. pp.653–59, 685–98, 804–07.)

The Circuit Court denied all of the insurers’ motions for intervention by order entered June 21, 2019:

1. The Insurers lack the necessary standing to intervene and do not meet the requirements for intervention under Rule 24 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure (“SCRCP”). As our Supreme Court has held, “intervention is only appropriate where the party seeking intervention has ‘a real proprietary interest in the subject matter of the proceedings;’ an interest which is merely ‘peripheral and not the real interest at stake’ will not warrant intervention.” *Ex parte Gov’t Employee’s Ins. Co. (GEICO) v. Goethe*, 373 S.C. 132, 139, 644 S.E.2d 699, 703 (2007) (*quoting Bailey v. Bailey*, 312 S.C. 454, 441 S.E.2d 325 (1994) and affirming the family court’s denial of insurer’s motion to intervene). The Insurers do not have an interest in the property that is the subject of each of the actions, the Condominium project at issue in each case. The Insurers do not have an interest in the underlying transaction that is the subject of this litigation, namely the development and construction of the Condominium project in each case. Each of the Insurers’ interest arises solely out of its contract of insurance with its insured(s) and those interests are not appropriate to be litigated or interjected into this construction defect action. Intervention is not appropriate simply because a non-party only has a monetary interest in the outcome of the case.
2. The Insurers can satisfactorily protect any purported interests they may have in a separate declaratory judgment action.

3. The South Carolina Supreme Court's recent decision in Harleystville Grp. Ins. v. Heritage Communities, Inc., 420 S.C. 321, 803 S.E.2d 288 (2017) does not mandate that the Insurers have a right to intervene to ask special interrogatories or request special verdict forms.
4. In order to avoid an impermissible conflict determining coverage issues, this state requires a separate action. See Sims v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 247 S.C. 82, 145 S.E.2d 523 (1965). I find that the deep injection of insurance coverage issues into this construction defect action would place counsel defending an insured in an irreconcilable conflict created by the diametrically opposed goals where, on the one hand, counsel must try to minimize its insured's liability by showing lack of consequential damages and, on the other hand, counsel would likely be faced with the necessity of proving consequential damages in order to trigger and maximize coverage for its insured.
5. I find that the special interrogatories and/or special verdict forms requested by the Insurers will likely be confusing to the jury and may unfairly prejudice the parties participating in the trial due to the interjection of extraneous insurance coverage issues into an already complex construction defect case, particularly given that Insurers have requested that they not be made parties and their involvement and the issue of insurance not be disclosed to the jury, and that there may not be any evidence in the record to support the special interrogatories and/or special verdict forms.
6. The Court further finds that the Insurers shall be allowed to contest all insurance coverage issues, in a subsequent action and that any finding, argument, or issue as to reservation of rights letters to the insureds, is proper for consideration in a subsequent action and not in this present action.
7. The Court hereby denies intervention, irrespective of timing, on grounds that this Court finds that intervention would be prohibited at any time.

(R. pp.5-7.)

Hartford filed timely notices of appeal on June 27, 2019. (R. pp. 808-09.) This Court granted certification under Rule 204(b), SCACR, on September 26, 2019.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The River Crossing Condominium Association and a unit owner (as a putative class representative) sued Centex Homes on January 13, 2015, alleging that defective construction caused various damages, including from water intrusion. (R. p.37.) Centex Homes filed a third-party complaint against various subcontractors, including the following Hartford policyholders:

Carolina Drywall and Interiors, Weather Protection Systems, Inc., and Michael Dawson Construction. (R. pp.654–55.) The plaintiffs then filed an amended complaint that named Weather Protection Systems, Inc. as a defendant. (R. p.64.)

The Tanglewood Condominium Association sued Centex Homes on April 10, 2015, alleging that defective construction caused various damages, including from water intrusion. (R. p.852–53.) On April 16, 2015, Centex Homes filed a third-party complaint against various subcontractors, including the following Hartford policyholders: Carolina Drywall and Interiors, Capital Construction Group, Inc., Col-Cor Industries Inc. DBA Active Glass and Mirror Co., General Landscape Maintenance, LLC, JS Elite Flooring Company Inc., Michael Dawson Construction, Speedee Concrete, and Noe Hernandez. (R. p.852–53.)

Hartford, in its capacity as an insurer participating, under reservations of rights, in the defense of its policyholders and of Centex as a putative additional insured, moved for limited intervention in both actions to request a special verdict sheet or special interrogatories to distinguish between uncovered and potentially covered damages. (R. pp.653–59, 685–98, 804–07.)

## ARGUMENTS

UNCERTAINTY IN THE LAW COMPELLED HARTFORD TO MOVE TO INTERVENE, BUT MANDATORY INTERVENTION IS NOT IN ANY PARTIES' INTEREST AND SHOULD NOT BE THE LAW OF SOUTH CAROLINA TO PRESERVE COVERAGE ISSUES.

Hartford issued commercial general liability insurance policies to businesses that are defendants in numerous cases over alleged construction defects (“CD litigation” or “CD actions”) in South Carolina. Hartford moved for intervention in these CD actions because some litigants interpret this Court’s decisions in *Harleysville Group Ins. v. Heritage Communities, Inc.*, 420 S.C. 321, 803 S.E.2d 288 (2017), and *Auto Owners Ins. Co. v. Newman*, 385 S.C. 187, 198, 684 S.E.2d 541, 546 (2009), as requiring insurers to intervene in CD litigation involving their insureds to request allocated verdicts for the insurers to preserve their right to allocate between covered and uncovered damages. Builders Mutual Insurance Company, for example, advances this argument in *Ex parte Builders Mutual (In re Palmetto Pointe v. Island Pointe)*, Appeal No. 2019-000238, currently pending before this Court.<sup>1</sup> At least one Circuit Court judge, moreover, has granted an insurer’s intervention motion based on that reading of *Harleysville* and *Newman*. See *Ingram v. Lauderdale Bay Developers, LLC*, Civil Action No. 2017-CP-26-2854 (Horry County Cir. Ct. Oct. 18, 2018) (Seals, J.).<sup>2</sup>

Hartford does not believe this “mandatory intervention” reading of *Harleysville* and *Newman* to be correct. But that reading is plausible enough—and the consequences are so dire if an insurer is found not to have taken necessary steps to preserve its right to allocation—that, in an

---

<sup>1</sup> The Court can take judicial notice of the briefs in that action, in which Hartford has filed an amicus curiae brief.

<sup>2</sup> Hartford does not cite this unreported trial court opinion as precedential or persuasive, but only to illustrate the uncertainty in the law. A copy of this opinion was attached to Hartford’s motion for certification in this appeal, and as an appendix to Hartford’s amicus curiae brief in *Ex parte Builders Mutual*.

abundance of caution, Hartford moved for intervention in this case and others, and has appealed from the denial of intervention.

A. The Court Did Not Explicitly Decide the Intervention Question in *Harleysville*.

The Court in *Harleysville* addressed coverage in a CD action that concerned both the cost to repair faulty workmanship (which is uncovered) and the cost to repair resulting damage to otherwise non-defective components (which may qualify as covered “property damage”). *Id.* at 335, 803 S.E.2d at 296; *see Newman*, 385 S.C. at 198, 684 S.E.2d at 546. In requiring the insurer to pay for both types of repair costs, *Harleysville* agreed with the Special Referee that the insurer’s reservation of rights “letters were not sufficiently specific to put [its insured] on notice of [the insurer’s] specific defenses, particularly as to the need for an allocated verdict.” *Harleysville*, 420 S.C. at 342, 803 S.E.2d at 299.

The Court further stated that the “‘right to control the litigation carries with it certain duties,’ including ‘the duty not to prejudice the insured’s rights by failing to request special interrogatories or a special verdict in order to clarify coverage of damages.’” *Id.* at 341, 803 S.E.2d at 299 (quoting *Magnum Foods, Inc. v. Cont’l Cas. Co.*, 36 F.3d 1491, 1498 (10th Cir. 1994)). In Footnote 11, the Court stated:

In addition to finding [the insurer’s] attempted reservation of rights to be insufficient, the Special Referee also found ‘the Court has no basis upon which to make a logical assessment of the jury’s purpose when it awarded the general verdict’ as to the negligent construction, breach of warranty, and breach of fiduciary duty claims, and the Special Referee refused to ‘engage in unguided speculation with respect to this issue of [allocating losses], particularly when the dilemma now confronting *Harleysville* is of its own making.’ *See Newman*, 385 S.C. at 198, 684 S.E.2d at 547 (finding that even though arbitrator’s award improperly included amounts for replacing and repairing faulty workmanship itself, there was insufficient evidence in the record to allow the Court to determine which costs were solely attributable to the non-covered faulty workmanship and finding that the insurer’s duty to indemnify therefore covered the entire award).

*Harleysville*, 420 S.C. at 343 n.11, 803 S.E.2d at 300 n.11.

The Court made no express reference to the intervention issue, and cited to *Newman*, without explanation. *Newman*, which involved an arbitration of a defective-stucco claim, held that the policy's terms "prohibit[ed] recovery for the cost of removing and replacing the defective stucco—even when the replacement of the defective work may be incidental to the repair of property damage covered by the policy," and that "any amount in the arbitrator's allowance allotted to the removal and replacement of the defective stucco is not covered under the CGL policy." 385 S.C. at 198, 684 S.E.2d at 546. However, *Newman* found it was "not possible from the record before this Court to determine what portion of the arbitrator's itemized list of damages may be attributed to the removal and replacement of the defective stucco, and it is not the purpose of this declaratory judgment action to relitigate the issue of damages." *Id.* at 198, 684 S.E.2d at 547. The insurer "had an opportunity to raise this matter when the issue of damages was litigated before the arbitrator, who issued a final, binding award on the merits." *Id.* Although recognizing that the insurer defended its insured "with a reservation of rights and an understanding that the coverage issue would be reserved for judicial consideration in a separate proceeding," the Court held the insurer responsible for the entire award because when "the arbitrator determined damages, [the insurer] did not seek review of or otherwise contest the damages award." *Id.* at 198 n.5, 684 S.E.2d at 547 n.5.

Thus, the arbitrator in *Newman* suggested that the insurer could have taken some action—perhaps intervention—to obtain an allocated award, and the failure to do so obligated the insurer to pay all damages, even those which were expressly not covered under the policy. Indeed, the Special Referee in *Harleysville* in its decision concluded that, under *Newman*, one of the reasons the insurer could not "relitigate" the allocation of damages was its "decision not to file a motion to intervene or otherwise seek an allocated verdict as it could have done under Rules 24 and 49,

SCRCP.”<sup>3</sup> *Harleysville v. Heritage*, S.C. Sup. Ct. No. 2013-001281, Consolidated Record on Appeal, p.56. Nevertheless, because Footnote 11 in *Harleysville* did not expressly approve or disapprove the Special Referee’s interpretation of *Newman*, tension has arisen over the Court’s intent in its citation to *Newman*.

Responding to *Harleysville*’s citation to *Newman*, the dissent wrote that “there is no suggestion how *Harleysville* could have intervened in these lawsuits and asserted a defense against coverage without creating an impermissible conflict of interest in violation of established South Carolina law.” *Harleysville*, 420 S.C. at 363, 803 S.E.2d at 311 (Pleicones, Acting Justice, dissenting) (citing *Sims v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 247 S.C. 82, 145 S.E.2d 523 (1965)).

Footnote 11 in *Harleysville*, when read in conjunction with *Newman* and with the *Harleysville* dissent, has led some litigants to conclude that insurers must intervene to request a special verdict. As noted above, at least one trial court has granted intervention on that theory. See *Ingram, supra*. Here, as discussed below, the Circuit Court rejected this reading of *Harleysville*.

B. The Order Under Review Cited Compelling Reasons Why Intervention Is Neither Necessary Nor Desirable.

The Circuit Court held that *Harleysville* “does not mandate that the Insurers have a right to intervene to ask special interrogatories or request special verdict forms.” (R. p.5.). It cited four other reasons why, in its judgment, South Carolina law generally prohibits and does not require intervention for allocation of covered versus uncovered damages pursuant to an insurance policy: (1) an insurer lacks standing to intervene under Rule 24, SCRCP; (2) a declaratory judgment proceeding is better-equipped to make a post-verdict allocation; (3) injecting coverage-related

---

<sup>3</sup> Available at <http://ctrack.sccourts.org/public/document/view.do?documentID=195246>. Hartford cites the docket materials not for the truth of any statement in those materials, but to examine what was (and was not) reviewed, argued, and decided by this Court in *Harleysville*.

allocation issues into the CD trial puts defense counsel in a difficult position; and (4) there is too great a potential for jury confusion or unfair prejudice to the parties.

1. *Ex parte GEICO Holds That an Insurer Lacks Standing to Intervene in an Underlying Case Under Rule 24, SCRPC.*

The Circuit Court began by focusing on this Court's decision in *Ex parte Gov't Employee's Ins. Co.*, 373 S.C. 132, 644 S.E.2d 699 (2007) ("*Ex parte GEICO*"). (R. p.4.) There, GEICO moved to intervene in a proceeding to validate a common law marriage between its named insured and an individual making a claim under GEICO's policy. *Id.* at 134–35, 644 S.E.2d at 700. GEICO had denied coverage because the claimant was not its insured's spouse, and it sought to intervene because "the family court's decision on the parties' common law marriage would impact GEICO's ability to protect its interests under the insurance policy." *Id.* This Court found no standing to intervene under Rule 24, SCRPC, because "GEICO's interest is in the financial implications of the family court's decision, which is peripheral to the subject matter before the [family] court." *Id.* at 138–39, 644 S.E.2d at 702 (applying *Bailey v. Bailey*, 312 S.C. 454, 458, 441 S.E.2d 325, 327 (1994)).

Drawing an analogy to *Ex parte GEICO*, the Circuit Court held in these cases that Hartford's "interest arises solely out of its contract of insurance with its insured and those interests are not appropriate to be litigated or interjected into this construction defect action. Intervention is not appropriate simply because a non-party only has a monetary interest in the outcome of the case." (R. pp.4–5.) That analogy on this issue, however, is not perfect because *Harleysville* suggests the insurer's interest is more than financial.

It is true that these actions are CD actions, not insurance coverage actions. But *Newman* faulted the insurer for *not* raising the allocation issue "when the issue of damages was litigated before the arbitrator." 385 S.C. at 198, 684 S.E.2d at 547. *Harleysville* cited authority stating that

an insurer has a “duty not to prejudice the insured’s rights by failing to request special interrogatories or a special verdict in order to clarify coverage of damages.” 420 S.C. at 341, 803 S.E.2d at 299 (quoting *Magnum*, 36 F.3d at 1498). It is unclear if this passage suggests that an insurer’s interest in an allocated verdict is not merely a financial interest, but part of a duty to protect its insured from prejudice.

The mandatory-intervention reading of *Harleysville* and *Newman* is in tension with *Ex parte GEICO*’s interpretation of Rule 24, SCRPC. *Newman* involved an arbitration, not a jury trial. And in *Harleysville*, the Court did not mention intervention or opine as to how the insurer could have intervened under that rule. Because the Court did not expressly address *Ex parte GEICO* in *Harleysville* or *Newman*, it stands to reason that insurers do not have clear standing to intervene under Rule 24, SCRPC. Furthermore, for the other reasons discussed below, an insurer does not need to intervene in the underlying CD action to preserve its coverage defenses for subsequent coverage litigation.

2. Reservation of Issues for Separate Coverage Actions Are to the Benefit of All Parties, and Mechanisms Exist to Protect All Parties’ Rights, Including Declaratory Judgment Actions.

The Circuit Court further reasoned that the insurers “can satisfactorily protect any purported interests they may have in a separate declaratory judgment action,” and that “to avoid impermissible conflict determining coverage issues, this state requires a separate action.” (R. p.5.) (citing *Sims v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 247 S.C. 82, 145 S.E.2d 523 (1965)).

*Sims* addressed coverage under an automobile liability policy. 247 S.C. at 83, 145 S.E.2d at 523. The judge in the tort action held that “the defendant was negligent in passing [the automobile in which the plaintiff was riding] and colliding with same, but the defendant was not willful.” *Id.* at 84, 145 S.E.2d at 524. The insurer, which had declined to defend its insured based on an intentional-injury exclusion, introduced evidence in the subsequent coverage action that the

insured intentionally ran the automobile off the road and shot the driver. *Id.* This Court held that the insurer could introduce the evidence to disprove coverage. Although recognizing the general principle that “where an indemnitor has notice of and opportunity to defend an action against the indemnitee, he is bound by material facts established against the indemnitee,” the Court adopted the “unassailable” logic of an exception for conflicts of interest:

In accord is Restatement of the Law of Judgment, Section 107(a), where the rights of indemnitee and indemnitor inter se after judgment against one of them are set out, and it is stated that if the third person has obtained a valid judgment against the indemnitee, both indemnitor and indemnitee are bound as to the existence and extent of the liability if the indemnitor has been given reasonable notice of the action and requested to defend; but in Comment (g) it is stated that this rule is binding only as to issues relevant to the proceeding; and that the judgment against the indemnitee does not decide issues as to the existence and extent of the duty to indemnify, and that in a subsequent action the indemnitor may show that the circumstances under which he was required to give indemnity do not exist.

*Id.* at 86–87, 145 S.E.2d at 525 (quoting *Farm Bur. Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Hammer*, 177 F.2d 793 (4th Cir. 1949)). *Sims* has been the law of this state for five decades, and it seems unlikely that the Court intended to abrogate it *sub silentio* in *Harleysville*.

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