THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

Apr 24 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Trial Court Case No. 2015-CP-26-00279
Trial Court Case No. 2015-CP-26-00118
Trial Court Case No. 2015-CP-26-02718
Trial Court Case No. 2015-CP-26-04514
Appellate Case No. 2019-001053

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

defend its insured on the grounds that the car accident at issue had been caused by an intentional act, which was not covered under the policy, and the insurer's attempt in a subsequent action to introduce evidence of intent to defeat coverage. *Id.* at 84, 145 S.E.2d at 523.

In reaching its decision, this Court relied heavily on the decision rendered in *Farm Bureau Mutual Ins. Co. v. Hammer et al.*, 4th C.C.A. 177 F. (2d) 793 (4th Cir. 1949), quoting the Fourth Circuit's "unassailable logic" that the notion an indemnitor is bound by facts established against an indemnitee when the indemnitor has notice and opportunity to defend and indemnify the indemnitee functions, only when the indemnitee and indemnitor have identical interests. *Sims*, 247 at 86-7, 145 S.E.2d at 525. As indicated in *Sims*, the *Farm Bureau* court further supported that position by its reference to Section 107 of the Restatement of the Law of Judgments, which provided an indemnitor and indemnitee are bound by the existence and extent of liability of the indemnitee, but a "judgment against the indemnitee does not decide issues as to the existence and extent of the duty to indemnify, and that in a subsequent action the indemnitor may show that the circumstances under which he was required to give indemnity do not exist. *Id.* at 87, 145 S.E.2d at 525 (quoting *Farm Bureau*, 4th C.C.A., 177 F. (2d) 793 (citing Restatement of Judgments § 107(a) (1942))). The current version of Restatement of Judgments (2d) Section 58, cited by the *Farm Bureau* court, clarifies this premise, stating "[t]he indemnitor is precluded from relitigating those issues determined in the action against the indemnitee *as to which there was no conflict of interest* between the indemnitor and the indemnitee." Restatement (2d) of Judgments, §58 (1)(b) (1982) (emphasis added).

Because this Court in *Sims* determined that the insurer's involvement in the underlying trial would create a "clear conflict of interests between insurer and insured," it reasoned that Nationwide was neither precluded from contesting its responsibility to indemnify its insured in a

separate action, nor bound by facts found against its insured in the underlying tort action. *Sims*, 247 at 87-8, 145 S.E.2d at 525-6. Until very recently, *Sims* provided justification for liability insurers to contest the coverage of verdicts rendered against their insureds without imposing procedural prerequisites like intervention, allocated verdicts, and special interrogatories to jurors. The perceived abrogation of *Sims* in recent caselaw likely spurred the influx of motions to intervene in tort actions.

2. *Newman* provides additional framework for contesting coverage.

Despite its holding in *Sims*, in a 2009 decision interpreting standard insurance policy provisions, this Court narrowed an insurer's ability to contest coverage, specifically in a construction defect action. In *Auto Owners Ins. Co. v. Newman*, 385 S.C. 187, 684 S.E.2d 541 (2009), this Court examined policy language regarding covered damages in the context of a tort action involving the improper installation of stucco and resulting damage. In *Newman*, insurance company Auto Owners filed a declaratory judgment action against a homeowner who had been awarded damages at arbitration for defective installation of stucco by Auto Owners's insured. *Id.* at 187, 684 S.E.2d at 541. Auto Owners sought a determination of whether its policy covered the damages awarded to the homeowner under various policy provisions, including under its definition of "occurrence" and exclusion for "intended or expected" property damage. *Id.*

Though this Court affirmed the arbitrator's findings that the negligent installation of stucco resulted in an "occurrence" that caused "property damage" covered under the applicable insurance policy, Auto Owners contended the damages related to the removal of the defective stucco itself were not covered by the policy. *Id.* at 197, 684 S.E.2d at 546. On that count, this Court sided with Auto Owners, holding that the terms of the policy "unambiguously" prohibited recovery for the cost of removing the insured's work itself, stating that "a claim solely for economic losses resulting

from faulty workmanship is part of an insured's contractual liability which a CGL policy is not intended to cover." *Id.* at 198, 684 S.E.2d at 546.

Despite siding with the insurer in part, this Court did not overturn the arbitrator's award because it found insufficient evidence in the record to parse out damages awarded for removal of the defective stucco itself. *Id.* at 198, 684 S.E.2d at 547. Without explicitly saying so, the *Newman* opinion seemed to suggest that insurers stood a greater chance of successfully reducing their indemnification liability if they were able to parse out judgments against their insureds to separate damages awarded for replacing defective work from damages to repair and replace consequential damage.

3. *Harleysville* leads to varied understandings of insurer responsibilities.

With suggestions, derived from the *Newman* opinion, apparently eating away at the protection provided by *Sims*, insurers received more perceived encouragement to allocate verdicts with *Harleysville Group Ins. v. Heritage Cmty., Inc.*, 420 S.C. 321, 803 S.E.2d 288 (2017). *Harleysville* appears to have been the catalyst for the recent influx of motions to intervene in construction defect actions, as insurers drew their own conclusions about this Court's holding. *Harleysville* involved directed verdicts rendered in favor of plaintiff property owners' associations, as well as trials on the appropriate amount of damages where juries returned general verdicts in actual damages and punitive damages. *Id.* at 331, 803 S.E.2d at 293. After the jury verdicts, *Harleysville* filed a declaratory judgment action seeking partition of the general verdicts into damages for the removal of the defective work itself (which it contended were not covered under its liability policies), and removal and repair of materials damaged as a result of the improper work (covered damages). *Id.* The Special Referee deciding the matter found the costs to remove the defective work itself were not covered under *Harleysville's* policies, but would not speculate as to

how much of the general verdicts were covered, and thus concluded Harleysville was responsible for the full amount of damages. *Id.* at 332, 803 S.E.2d at 294.

Though Appellants and insurers across the state read *Harleysville* as carte blanche authority for intervention in a tort action to protect their own interests, with respect to contesting coverage, the *Harleysville* opinion focused on whether the insurer's reservations of rights were sufficient for the insurers to even have the ability to contest coverage. This Court in *Harleysville* concluded that "generic denials of coverage coupled with furnishing the insured with a copy of all or most of the policy provisions (through a cut-and-paste method) [was] not sufficient" to put the insured on notice that the insurer intended to raise defenses to coverage or pursue a declaratory judgment on coverage issues. *Id.* at 338, 803 S.E.2d at 297. Essentially, this Court clearly delineated an insurer's reservation of rights must be sufficiently specific as to put the insured on notice the insurer "intend[s] to litigate the issues of whether any damages resulted from acts meeting the definition of occurrence, whether any damages occurred during the applicable policy periods . . . what damages were attributable to non-covered faulty workmanship," and that a potential conflict of interest exists such that the insured should seek an allocated verdict. *Id.* at 342-3, 803 S.E.2d at 300. Rather than require an insurer to intervene in a tort trial to protect its rights to contest coverage, this Court in *Harleysville* merely stated that a generic "we may contest coverage at a later date" on the part of an insurer is insufficient to put the insured on notice that it may need to seek an allocated verdict for any damages to be covered under its policy.

Further, footnote 11 of the *Harleysville* opinion discusses the refusal of the Special Referee to allocate the juries' general verdicts, citing to *Newman*, 385 S.C. at 198, 684 S.E.2d at 547, and also discusses the idea courts cannot and will not speculate about the motives behind a jury award in order to allocate an award for coverage purposes. *Harleysville*, 420 at 343, 803 S.E.2d 300 n.

11. Appellants and, presumably, countless insurers in this state, interpret this footnote to require some iteration of an allocated verdict (and the presentation of evidence to support it) as the only way to determine whether a jury award falls within coverage limits. This, of course, leads to Appellants' attempts to intervene to seek such an allocation.

Nowhere in the *Harleysville* majority opinion is the word "intervene" mentioned. In fact, it is only mentioned in Justice Pleicones's dissent wherein he states insurers' intervention in this situation would be inappropriate because of the resulting conflict of interests. *Id.* at 363, 903 S.E.2d at 311 (Pleicones, J., dissenting). While of course the dissent is not the controlling law, it is the only portion of the *Harleysville* opinion that addresses intervention. This fact, as well as the majority's failure to specify the means by which an insurer can protect its ability to contest coverage, contributes to the range of the opinion's interpretations.

Though one may read between the lines of the opinion and draw different conclusions, *Harleysville* seemed to confirm *Newman*'s deviation from *Sims*, to further suggest that the safest way to protect an insurer's interests and ability to contest coverage was to properly reserve specific rights, advise its insured of a conflict of interests and need for allocated verdict, and, to be abundantly cautious, intervene and seek the allocation itself. However, despite this version of interpretation, Respondents take the position that had this Court desired to overturn *Sims*, it would have done so. *See Hutto v. Southern Farm Bureau Life Ins. Co.*, 259, S.C. 170, 173, 191 S.E.2d 7, 9 (1972) (holding "it is, of course, settled law that 'a case cannot be considered as a binding precedent on a legal point that was not argued in a case and not mentioned in the opinion'"); *Coleman v. Page's Estate*, 202 S.C. 486, 491, 25 S.E.2d 559, 560 (1943) ("A decision which is to overrule all former precedents and to establish a principle never before recognized should either contain some internal evidence that the prevailing law is to be overthrown, or else be founded upon

reasoning far stronger than that comprehended in the previous decisions which by implication it would set aside.”). By glossing over the issue and refusing to provide an instruction manual on how to contest coverage, *Harleysville* provided no authority for insurers across the state to immediately flood the courts with motions to intervene in construction defect actions. Accordingly, the Circuit Court in this matter properly denied Appellants’ motions.

4. The need for clarity.

If there is one matter on which Appellants and Respondents agree, it is that all would benefit from this Court’s clarification of the necessary prerequisites to an insurer’s coverage challenge of a general verdict. In particular, Respondents request this Court clarify its decisions in *Newman* and *Harleysville* to specifically provide that a distinction between covered and noncovered portions of a general verdict rendered in a construction defect tort action may be litigated in a separate declaratory action, provided the insurer at issue has properly reserved its rights via specific correspondence to that effect and provided a defense to its insured. Returning to the *Sims* principle that an insurer can contest coverage of a general verdict in a separate action, because a general verdict does not determine indemnification responsibilities, would serve to simplify construction defect actions and maintain the status quo of their prosecution.

It is not uncommon for construction defect lawsuits to contain upward of ten to twenty or more parties and a complicated combination of complaints, defenses, causes of action, counterclaims, and third-party complaints. With insurance companies financing the bulk of recoveries in these actions, insurance coverage will always be a crucial component to consider. Notwithstanding this, the direct injection of insurance carriers and positions into a construction defect trial itself would serve to unnecessarily complicate and confuse what is already one of the more complicated tort genres.

Further, requiring an insurer to intervene at trial or requiring an insured to request an allocated verdict would not be practicable. Insurer participation in a trial would prejudice all parties, confuse the jury, impose an impossible conflict of interests on defense counsel, and infringe upon the parties' due process rights (see discussion in Section B., *infra*). In addition, it likely would be equally problematic to place upon the insured a presumption that the entirety of a general verdict is uncovered and require the insured to seek the allocation. In a construction defect action specifically, requiring defense counsel to seek an allocated verdict could drastically alter the defenses usually asserted. Typically, the goal of defense counsel is to protect their clients from all liability by arguing that their clients' work was free of defects and could not have caused resulting damage. If defense counsel becomes obligated to seek an allocated verdict, that muddies the fundamental issue of to whom defense counsel owes loyalty. If its loyalty is to its client, the insured, defense counsel must acknowledge the possibility that a home owner plaintiff will obtain a favorable result at trial and must present arguments and defenses in order to maximize coverage of any verdict. If defense counsel's loyalty is to the insurer paying its attorney's fees, it must structure its arguments to minimize the insurer's indemnification liability. Imposing, on either party, a requirement to request an allocated verdict places defense counsel in an impossible position and may effectively prevent insurers from fulfilling their duties to defend their insureds.

South Carolina law is clear that an insurer's duty to indemnify its insured against a judgment is not triggered until a judgment is actually entered. *Howard v. Allen*, 254 S.C. 455, 460, 176 S.E.2d 127, 129 (1970) (stating that liability must be established via final judgment against the insured before an insurer is obligated to indemnify); *Canopus US Ins., Inc. v. Middleton*, 202 F. Supp. 3d 540, 546 (D. S.C. 2016) (if an insurer has a duty to defend, the court may be unable to determine the insurer's duty to indemnify until the resolution of the underlying action).

Accordingly, because Appellants cannot litigate their duty to indemnify their insureds until after the resolution of the Construction Defect Actions, it follows that a subsequent declaratory action is the most obvious and efficient forum in which that duty should be determined. Construction defect and complicated tort actions so rarely proceed to trial that judicial economy would be served by waiting until the indemnification responsibility is ripe for adjudication *before* taking steps to establish facts specifically relevant to coverage decisions.

The *Newman* and *Harleysville* opinions themselves are not the cause of the execution of various approaches to this issue. Rather, conflict in the interpretations of these opinions by various parties including insurers, defense counsel representing the insureds, and home owner plaintiffs is the cause. Respondents respectfully request this Court remove all doubt and specifically clarify that *Newman* and *Harleysville* do not overturn *Sims*, an allocated verdict is not necessary to contest coverage, and the burden is on the insurer to contest coverage in a separate declaratory action filed after a judgment is entered against an insured.

B. Because intervention is not a mandatory prerequisite to contests of coverage, the Circuit Court was correct in its denial of Appellants' Motions to Intervene.

Having established that *Newman* and *Harleysville* do not stand for the premise that intervention and allocation are required for a successful contest of insurance coverage, the Circuit Court's denial of Appellants' Motions to Intervene was correct because Appellants lack proper standing to intervene and their intervention would create an impermissible conflict of interests, confuse the jury, prejudice other parties to these Actions, and infringe upon other parties' due process rights.

1. Appellants lack standing to intervene under *Ex Parte GEICO* and South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 24.

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